I. INTRODUCTION 

Before the Court is a conflict between the Appellant, Michelle 

Kinnucan, and the City of Seattle (the "City") over the City's ongoing 

failure to provide administrative hearings required by state law. To 

protect low-income tenants like Ms. Kinnucan, the Legislature enacted 

RCW 59.18.440 in conjunction with the Growth Management Act. When 

cities require property owners to pay tenants for relocation assistance, 

cities are also required to provide for administrative hearings to resolve 

disputes between tenants and property owners "relating to relocation 

assistance or unlawful detainer actions during relocation." See RCW 

59 .18.440( 5). Despite this clear mandate, the City only provides for 

hearings before a tenant relocation license is issued. But because the City 

does not permit property owners to relocate tenants until after a tenant 

relocation license is issued, the City fails to give effect to the plain 

language of the statute to provide for administrative hearings "during 

relocation." 

By limiting administrative hearings to disputes that arise before a 

property owner receives a tenant relocation license, the City cuts off a 

tenant's right to an administrative hearing at the first moment the property 

owner can, in fact, terminate leases and force tenants to relocate. This is 

the same time at which low-income tenants are most vulnerable and in 
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need of a process to streamline resolution of disputes with property 

owners. Ms. Kinnucan was denied her request for an administrative 

hearing at that precise time. 

Here, Ms. Kinnucan sought a writ of mandamus to compel the City 

to provide recourse via an administrative hearing during actual relocation 

- which as a matter of law can only occur after a tenant relocation license 

is issued. Her writ was denied on a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. Ms. 

Kinnucan's petition for a writ of mandamus, however, sets forth sufficient 

facts to state a claim. The trial court's order should be reversed with 

direction that a writ of mandamus be granted recognizing the statutory 

right of tenants to seek an administrative hearing during relocation. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

No. 1: Whether the trial court erred in dismissing Ms. Kinnucan's 

petition for a writ of mandamus under CR 12(b)(6) where, accepting all 

facts alleged as true, the petition sets forth allegations sufficient to state a 

claim. 

No. 2: Whether the trial court erred in dismissing Ms. Kinnucan's 

petition for a writ of mandamus because RCW 59.18.440(5) imposes on 

the City a duty to provide administrative hearings to resolve disputes 

between tenants and property owners relating to relocation assistance or 
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unlawful detainer actions "during relocation," not simply before a tenant 

relocation license is issued to the property owner. 

No. 3: Whether the trial court erred in dismissing Ms. Kinnucan's 

petition for a writ of mandamus because Ms. Kinnucan has no plain, 

speedy, and adequate remedy as an alternative to a writ of mandate. 

No. 4: Whether the trial court erred in dismissing Ms. Kinnucan's 

petition for a writ of mandamus because Ms. Kinnucan is a beneficially 

interested party under RCW 7 .16.170. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Ms. Kinnucan is a low-income tenant who lives in the City of 

Seattle. CP 97, 99, 100. 1 In August 2013, after Ms. Kinnucan had been 

leasing a unit in an apartment building in the City for four years, the 

building, as part of a larger complex, was sold. CP 95. The new property 

owners quickly terminated some leases without following required 

process, and as a result, the City issued a Tenant Relocation Assistance 

Ordinance Notice of Violation. CP 119. This is the initial context that 

gave rise to Ms. Kinnucan's dispute with the property owner. 

From November 2013 through January 2014, Ms. Kinnucan 

received communications from the property owner indicating that the 

1 There is no dispute that Ms. Kinnucan is a "low-income tenant" as 
defined by RCW 59.18.440(2). 
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building would be rehabilitated. CP 96, 121-27. The communications 

indicated how long Ms. Kinnucan and the other residents of her building 

could stay in their apartments. Id. Ms. Kinnucan relied on these notices. 

CP 96. In February 2014, Ms. Kinnucan, on behalf of her building's 

tenants union, expressed concerns to the property owner about lead dust 

during demolition. CP 97, 131-32. Those concerns were borne out by 

testing by public health officials. CP 97, 134. 

On April 3, 2014, the City issued a tenant relocation license to the 

property owner. CP 41, 62. The next day, April 4, 2014, Ms. Kinnucan 

received a notice to terminate her tenancy by April 30, 2014, six months 

earlier than previously indicated. CP 136. Ms. Kinnucan was the only 

tenant in her building subject to the accelerated termination date. CP 97. 

Ms. Kinnucan was then faced with the prospect of homelessness and 

already disabling health problems now further exacerbated by stress. Id. 

On April 21, 2014, Ms. Kinnucan contacted the City to seek 

recourse. CP 98, 142-43. Ms. Kinnucan was proceeding prose. CP 98. 

She sent an email to confirm that the Office of the Hearing Examiner was 

the appropriate agency to hear disputes "concerning the owner's authority 

to institute unlawful detainer actions 'during relocation."' CP 98, 142-43. 

The City responded that the agency "has the authority to hear your 

complaint." Id. Accordingly, on May 22, 2014, Ms. Kinnucan filed an 
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appeal with the City seeking an administrative hearing. CP 98, 145-48. 

The City then refused to consider the appeal, contending that the hearing 

examiner lacked jurisdiction. CP 149. 

Upon receiving the City's rejection of her appeal, Ms. Kinnucan 

again contacted the City's hearing examiner. CP 98-99, 151-52. On June 

4, 2014, Ms. Kinnucan specifically explained that her appeal "relates to 

'unlawful detainer actions during relocation."' Id. On June 5, 2014, the 

City rejected the appeal as "untimely under SMC 22.210.150.C." CP 153-

54. Ms. Kinnucan's additional efforts to seek an administrative hearing 

from the City were rebuffed. CP 99, 156-59. In a letter dated July 23, 

2014, the City informed Ms. Kinnucan that "there is no route to an 

administrative hearing on any of the issues you have raised." Id. 

Ms. Kinnucan then proceeded pro se and filed a lawsuit in an 

attempt to address matters, among others, that she sought to bring before 

the City in an administrative hearing. CP 99. Ms. Kinnucan was 

ultimately not forced to terminate her tenancy until October 2014. CP 

100. 

On December 29, 2014, Ms. Kinnucan filed an application for a 

peremptory writ of mandate against the City in King County Superior 

Court. CP 1-6. Ms. Kinnucan sought a writ of mandamus requiring the 

City to: 
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1. Adopt policies, procedures, or regulations that satisfy 
the legislative mandate in RCW 59.18.440(5); and 

2. Provide administrative hearings to tenants consistent 
with the same legislative mandate. 

CP 5, 6. On October 23, 2015, the trial court granted the City's motion to 

dismiss under CR 12(b)(6). CP 168-69. This appeal followed. CP 170. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review. 

The issue before the Court is purely legal and thus reviewed de 

novo. Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewood, 178 Wn.2d 635, 648-

49, 310 P .3d 804 (2013) (noting that "if the question raised is whether a 

statute prescribes a duty that will support issuance of a writ of mandamus, 

our review is de novo"); FutureSelect Portfolio Mgmt., Inc. v. Tremont 

Grp. Holdings, Inc., 180 Wn.2d 954, 962, 331P.3d29 (2014) (trial court 

dismissal of action under CR 12(b)(6) reviewed de novo). 

Dismissal under CR 12(b)(6) is "proper only if we conclude that 

'the plaintiff cannot prove "any set of facts which would justify 

recovery.""' Nissen v. Pierce County, 183 Wn.2d 863, 872, 357 P.3d 45 

(2015) (quoting Kinney v. Cook, 159 Wn.2d 837, 842, 154 P.3d 206 

(2007)). "Motions to dismiss are granted 'only in the unusual case in 

which plaintiff includes allegations that show on the face of the complaint 

that there is some insuperable bar to relief."' Id. (quoting Hoffer v. State, 
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110 Wn.2d 415, 420, 755 P.2d 781 (1988)). Here, presuming all factual 

allegations in Ms. Kinnucan's petition as true, it is plain that the petition 

withstands a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. See Reidv. Pierce County, 

136 Wn.2d 195, 201, 961P.2d333 (1998) (when reviewing denial of CR 

12(b)(6) motion, court presumes complaint's factual allegations are true). 

B. The Trial Court Erred in Dismissing the Petition for Issuance 
of a Writ Under CR 12(b)(6). 

A party seeking a writ of mandamus must show that (1) the party 

subject to the writ has a clear duty to act; (2) the petitioner has no plain, 

speedy, and adequate remedy in the ordinary course oflaw; and (3) the 

petitioner is beneficially interested. RCW 7 .16.160, .170. Although Ms. 

Kinnucan's petition sufficiently alleged all three, the trial court dismissed 

her petition under CR 12(b)(6). CP 168-69. 

1. RCW 59.18.440(5) Imposes a Duty to Act "During 
Relocation," Not Simply Before a Tenant Relocation 
License Is Issued. 

RCW 59.18.440 was enacted in response to a "sharp increase in 

rental prices and a corresponding decrease in the number ofrental units 

affordable to low-income tenants." Garneau v. City of Seattle, 147 F.3d 

802, 804 (9th Cir. I 998) (upholding tenant relocation ordinance enacted 

under RCW 59. I 8.440 as constitutional). "In I 990, as part of the Growth 

Management Act, the Washington State Legislature adopted legislation 

enabling municipal governments to enact relocation assistance 
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provisions." Id. RCW 59.18.440(1) authorizes cities to require property 

owners to provide relocation assistance to low-income tenants upon, for 

example, demolition or substantial rehabilitation of the property. 

To require property owners to provide relocation assistance, cities 

must comply with specific requirements. RCW 59.18.440(5) provides, in 

relevant part: 

A city, town, county, or municipal corporation 
requiring the provision of relocation assistance 
under this section shall adopt policies, procedures, 
or regulations to implement such requirement. Such 
policies, procedures, or regulations shall include 
provisions for administrative hearings to resolve 
disputes between tenants and property owners 
relating to relocation assistance or unlawful 
detainer actions during relocation, and shall require 
a decision within thirty days of a request for a 
hearing by either a tenant or property owner. 

(Emphasis added.) The operative term at issue in the statute is the period 

during which cities "shall" provide for administrative hearings, namely 

"during relocation." 

In 1990, "the City of Seattle took advantage of the State's enabling 

legislation by promulgating the Tenant Relocation Assistance Ordinance 

("TRAO"). Garneau, 147 F.3d at 804. The TRAO, codified at SMC 

22.210, requires a property owner to obtain a tenant relocation license 

before the City will, for example, issue a permit for substantial 

rehabilitation of the property. SMC 22.210.050. Before a tenant 
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relocation license is issued, the property owner must give tenants notice of 

the planned development and pay applicable relocation assistance. SMC 

22.210.060, .110, .120, .130. In the event of a dispute, SMC 22.210.150 

outlines the City's process for administrative appeals under the TRAO, 

including, in relevant part: 

A. Either an owner or a tenant may request a hearing 
before the Hearing Examiner to appeal a 
determination concerning a tenant's eligibility for a 
relocation assistance payment, to resolve a dispute 
concerning the authority to institute unlawful 
detainer actions before issuance of the tenant 
relocation license required by Section 22.210.050, 
or to review a decision of the Director pursuant to 
subsection 22.210.136.C. 

C. A request for a hearing relating to authority to 
pursue unlawful detainer actions during the 
relocation period shall be filed prior to issuance of 
the tenant relocation license. 

F. All requests for a hearing or appeal shall be in 
writing and shall clearly state specific objections 
and the relief sought. The appellant is not required 
to pay the Hearing Examiner filing fee set forth in 
Section 3.02.125. 

The City itself recognized the problem that RCW 59.18.440 seeks 

to address. In enacting the TRAO, the City made several findings, 

including: 

3. Rents in Seattle have been increasing rapidly and 
vacancies in rental housing are at low levels, 
making it increasingly difficult for tenants, 
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especially those with low incomes, to locate 
affordable rental housing. 

6. Conditions in the current rental market have created 
a relocation crisis, because tenants, especially low
income tenants, do not have sufficient time to save 
money for relocation costs or to find comparable 
housing when they are evicted as a result of 
demolition, change of use, substantial rehabilitation 
or removal of use restrictions from their dwelling 
units. 

SMC 22.210.020(3), (6). In other words, the City recognized that property 

owners were evicting low-income tenants to demolish, rehabilitate, or 

convert their properties for a wealthier clientele. The problem is, the 

TRAO falls short of its statutory mandate under RCW 59.18.440(5). 

In enacting the TRAO, the City imposed arbitrary and improper 

limitations on both the procedural time period and substantive scope of a 

low-income tenant's right to an administrative hearing. See SMC 

22.21O.l50(A) (limiting time at which tenant may request administrative 

hearing to "before issuance of the tenant relocation license"); SMC 

22.210.150(C) (limiting time at which tenant may request administrative 

hearing to "prior to issuance of the tenant relocation license" and 

substantive scope to "authority to pursue unlawful detainer actions"). 2 

2 Since this case commenced, SMC 22.210.150 was amended on October 
5, 2015, resulting in a change in subsection (A) to the time period within 
which a tenant may request a hearing from "during the 90 day period after 
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Contrary to the City's limitations, RCW 59.18.440(5) requires provision 

of administrative hearings in a broader context - substantively "relating to 

relocation assistance or unlawful detainer actions" and procedurally 

"during relocation." The City's reading of a non-existent limitation into 

the phrase "during relocation" thus fails to give full effect to the 

requirements of RCW 59.18.440(5). 

The meaning of a statute is a question of law reviewed de novo. 

Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 

(2002). "The court's fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out 

the Legislature's intent, and if the statute's meaning is plain on its face, 

then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of 

legislative intent." Id. at 9-10. Here, the plain language of "during 

relocation" is clear. See Webster's Third New International Dictionary 

703, 1919 (2002) (defining "during" as "throughout the continuance or 

course of' and "relocation" as "removal and establishment in a new 

place"). 

In construing RCW 59.18.440, the Court reads the statute as a 

whole; '"intent is not to be determined by a single sentence."' State ex rel. 

Royal v. Bd. of Yakima Cty. Comm 'rs, 123 Wn.2d 451, 459-60, 869 P.2d 

service of the notice required by Section 22.210.120" to "before issuance 
of the tenant relocation license required by Section 22.210.050 or to 
review a decision of the Director pursuant to subsection 22.210.136.C." 
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56 (1994) (citation omitted). "[E]ffect should be given to all the language 

used," and "all of the provisions of the act must be considered in their 

relation to each other, and, if possible, harmonized to insure proper 

construction of each provision." Id.; Tommy P. v. Bd. of Cty. Comm 'rs, 97 

Wn.2d 385, 391, 645 P.2d 697 (1982). Further, because the statute is 

remedial in nature, it is to be construed liberally in accordance with the 

legislative purpose behind it. Int 'I Ass 'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. City 

of Everett, 146 Wn.2d 29, 34, 42 P.3d 1265 (2002) (citing Gaglidari v. 

Denny's Rests., Inc., 117 Wn.2d 426, 450-51, 815 P.2d 1362 (1991)). 

When an apartment building is demolished, rehabilitated, or 

converted, the tenants need to relocate, to move. This meaning is 

confirmed throughout the statute. For example, RCW 59.18.440(3) lists 

examples of "relocation expenses" including "moving costs and expenses" 

and advance payments "required for moving into a new residence." RCW 

59.18.440(3) (emphases added). RCW 59.18.440(7) provides that people 

who "move" before the property owner applies for a permit are not 

entitled to the assistance authorized by the statute. Plainly, "relocation" 

means "moving." While no court has specifically addressed what 

constitutes "during relocation" or "relocation," a recent Division III case is 

informative and supports Ms. Kinnucan's position that "during relocation" 

means the time during which tenants are moving. Segura v. Cabrera, 179 
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Wn. App. 630, 637, 319 P.3d 98 (2014) (in case involving claim for 

relocation assistance under RCW 59.18.085(3), court noted that actual 

damages under statute are limited to reasonable moving expenses, noting 

(but not holding) as examples that out of pocket or financial damages 

incurred by relocation may include "wages lost during relocation, fuel 

costs, and equipment rental costs"). 

In sum, RCW 59.18.440(5) requires the City to provide for 

administrative hearings "during relocation." The City's restriction on the 

right to request a hearing to the time period before a tenant relocation 

license is issued defies both the plain language of the statute, which 

includes no such limitation, and the application of the law. Indeed, once 

an owner applies for a tenant relocation license, the City prohibits property 

owners from evicting tenants before issuance of the license except for 

good cause unrelated to matters covered by the TRAO. SMC 22.210.140. 

In an apparent attempt to circumvent application here, the TRAO 

also includes a substantive limitation, which restricts hearings requests to 

those "relating to authority to pursue unlawful detainer actions during the 

relocation period." SMC 22.210.150(C) (emphasis added). Again, this is 

a limitation self-imposed by the City, which runs counter to the broader 

requirement under RCW 59.18.440(5) to provide for administrative 
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hearings to "resolve disputes ... relating to ... unlawful detainer actions," 

not simply the authority to pursue such an action. 

For all these reasons, the City has a duty to provide for 

administrative hearings on specified issues "during relocation," not just 

before a tenant relocation license is issued. 

2. Ms. Kinnucan Has No Other Plain, Speedy, and 
Adequate Remedy. 

A writ of mandamus '"must be issued in all cases where there is 

not a plain, speedy and adequate remedy in the ordinary course oflaw. "' 

Wash. State Farm Bureau Fed'n v. Reed, 154 Wn.2d 668, 672, 115 P.3d 

30 I (2005) (quoting RCW 7 .16.170). Here, there is no other proceeding 

or forum that could provide the same relief as mandamus, namely an order 

directing the City to provide for administrative hearings. 

RCW 59.18.440(5) is undoubtedly intended to give tenants a way 

to avoid other costly, risky, or arduous remedies. It does so by providing 

tenants the right to a specific remedy, an administrative hearing, in cities 

that require relocation assistance. The statute does not make provision of 

administrative hearings optional. Administrative hearings are mandated. 

See RCW 59.18.440(5) ("shall include provisions for administrative 

hearings to resolve disputes"); Eugster v. City of Spokane, 118 Wn. App. 

383, 414, 76 P.3d 741 (2003) (noting that mandamus remedy "turns on 
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whether the duty the plaintiff seeks to enforce 'cannot be directly 

enforced' by any means other than mandamus" (citation omitted)). 

No other remedy at law could provide the same plain, speedy, and 

adequate relief as the administrative hearing mandated "during relocation" 

under RCW 59.18.440(5). For example, damages cannot fully 

compensate a tenant who suffers an unnecessary eviction, and there is no 

other specific proceeding that a tenant could use to obtain the same relief. 

Nor is any other remedy similarly speedy. See RCW 59.18.440(5) (calling 

for decision within 30 days of request for administrative hearing); Dress v. 

Wash. State Dep 't of Corr., 168 Wn. App. 319, 338-39, 279 P.3d 875 

(2012) (finding the argument that "a plain, speedy and adequate remedy 

'merely requires that there be a process by which the plaintiff may seek 

redress for the allegedly unlawful action"' was a "relaxed standard" 

unsupported by law; further finding that the "existence of some process

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