No. 74360-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHELLE J. KINNUCAN, Petitioner/Appellant,

VS.

CITY OF SEATTLE, Respondent,

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CITY OF SEATTLE

PETER S. HOLMES Seattle City Attorney

Elizabeth E. Anderson, WSBA #34036 Assistant City Attorney Attorneys for Respondent City of Seattle

Seattle City Attorney's Office 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2050 Seattle, Washington 98104-7097 (206) 684-8200

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

Here, appeal hearings must occur during relocation-which is undefined in the statute and could be interpreted in a variety of ways. Kinnucan even interprets the term differently in her own brief, arguing it is "moving" and then citing a dictionary definition: "removal and establishment in a new place." Creation of the admisstrative hearings process under the tenant relocation fee statute (RCW 59.18.440) involves municipal discretion. The City used its discretion and adopted SMC 22.210.150 authorizing administrative hearings under TRAO.

Because the statute does not define the city's duty to have administrative hearings "with such particularly as to leave nothing to the exercise of discretion or judgment," the City appropriately used its discretion and issuance of a writ to extend the City's administrative appeal deadline would be improper.

²⁶ RCW 59.18.440(1). The Court may take judicial notice of Substitute House Bill 2929 (1980), pp. 2001-2003.

²⁷ Kinnucan's Opening Brief, pp 11-12.

3. Denial of Kinnucan's writ follows Washington common law.

In *Burg v. City of Seattle*,²⁸ the court held that the City of Seattle had no duty to clean up and re-open a street it had partially closed because exercising power to establish and improve streets was legislative and involved discretion.²⁹

Similarly, our Supreme Court determined that a Grays Harbor County commissioner's decision to close a bridge serving many Hoquiam residents was discretionary and not mandatory even though a statute authorized the expenditure of county funds for the construction and operation of a bridge within the city.³⁰

The precise action here- to adopt policies, procedures or regulations for administrative hearings during relocation is discretionary and not mandatory because RCW 59.18.440 did not dictate the terms of the appeal period. The City can exercise its judgment and discretion to select the appeal period within the course of tenant relocation.

²⁸ Burg v. City of Seattle, 32 Wn. App. 286, 292-293, 647 P.2d 517, 520 (1982).

²⁹ Id

³⁰ Hoquiam v. Grays Harbor County, 24 Wn.2d 533, 166 P.2d 461 (1946).

This case is also similar to *Eugster*³¹ where a city had promised to loan money from a city fund to a public corporation by ordinance but, because the ordinance was silent on the loan, the city had discretion over its terms.³² Here, like in *Eugster*, the City has a duty to "adopt provisions for administrative hearings" relating to unlawful detainer actions during relocation.³³ However, because the statute is silent on the timeline involved in determining the appeal period during tenant relocation, the City Council correctly used its discretion when it adopted TRAO, to set the timeline for administrative appeals.

4. Under the rules of statutory construction, the Legislature intended municipal discretion to establish appeal timelines during relocation.

The text, statutory structure and purpose of RCW 59.18.440 all clarify the City has discretion, not a duty, to extend its TRAO administrative appeal timeline until tenants have moved out.

The Legislature did not set forth a statutory relocation period or timeline for admisstraive appeals, nor did the Legislature define the term "relocation". An undefined statutory term must be given its ordinary

³³ RCW 59.18.440(5).

³¹ Eugster v. City of Spokane, 118 Wn. App. 383, 407, 76 P.3d 741 (2003).

³² Kinnucan acknowledge in superior court that where discretion comes in is "best illustrated in *Eugster*." Report of Proceedings (RP) 14:7-23; RP 15:5-6.

meaning, considering legislative purposes.³⁴ The meaning of a particular word in a statute is not gleaned from that word alone, because the Court's purpose is to ascertain legislative intent of the statute as a whole.³⁵ Plain meaning of a statute may be gleaned "from all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question."³⁶

Here, the plain meaning of "relocation" does not support Kinnucan's argument that administrative appeals are required until the moment a tenant moves out, or even until the tenant moves into a new residence. Kinnucan reliance on Webster's to provide the meaning of "during relocation" to mean "throughout the continuance or course of" "removal and establishment in a new place").³⁷ Based on Kinnucan's interpretation, a tenant could appeal an unlawful detainer action even after the tenant had moved into a new place. That would seem to defeat the entire purpose of allowing an administrative appeal.

Kinnucan's reliance on Segura v. Cabrera to supports her argument that "during relocation" means the time during which tenants

³⁴ Dept. of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 10-11 (2002).

³⁵ Whatcom County v. City of Bellingham, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996).

³⁶ Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002).

³⁷ Kinnucan's Opening Brief at p. 11, second full paragraph.

"are moving" is off base. First, *Segura* is inopposite because it interprets a different statute (RCW 59.18.085)³⁹ and the term "relocation" is only exists with the term "assistance" (as in "relocation assistance").⁴⁰ Kinnucan's argument is not even consistent: does "during relocation" mean "during removal and establishment in a new place" or "the time during which tenants are moving"?⁴¹ Kinnucan's construction is one possible interpretation; Kinnucan's acknowledgment there are various interpretations of the phrase "during relocation" supports the City's position it may set the appeal deadlines during relocation.

In determining the Legislature's intent of "relocation", that terms should be interpreted to "best advance" the municipality's legislative purpose. Here, the Legislative purpose was to set up a system to provide relocation funds to low-income tenants subject to displacement through redevelopment. The Legislature likely intended that administrative appeals be used to resolve issues regarding tenant relocation assistance or

³⁸ Kinnucan's Opening Brief at p. 12, *citing Segura v. Cabrera*, 179 Wn. App. 630, 637, 319 P.3d 98 (2014).

³⁹ Segura v. Cabrera, 179 Wn. App. 630, 639, 319 P.3d 98 (2014).

⁴⁰ *Id.* That court recognized that RCW 59.18.085 exists primarily to provide monetary relocation assistance.

⁴¹ Kinnucan's Opening Brief at pp. 11 and 12.

⁴² Morris v. Blaker, 118 Wn.2d 133, 143, 821 P.2d 482 (1992).

⁴³ The Court may take judicial notice of Substitute House Bill 2929 (1980), pp. 2001-2003.

attempts to circumvent the obligation of landlords to pay tenant relocation monies for low-income tenants being displaced.

This is clear when reading RCW 59.18.440(1) and (5) together, which support creation of a municipal system where landlords must pay low-income tenant relocation assistance monies, and, if that isn't occurring or if landlords attempt to evict tenants to avoid payment, there is an admisntraive appeal right. This follows subsection (5), last sentence, where the Legislature created a right of judicial appeal relating only to "relocation assistance."

The City's interpretation follows the entire structure of RCW 59.18.440-every subsection involves how tenant relocation assistance funds can be required of landlords- how much they must pay, who qualifies for tenant relocation assistance, how a municipality can determine costs for relocation.

Finally, the underlying purpose of RCW 59.18.440 clarifies the Legislature's intent was to authorize municipalities to create a system to provide certain low-income tenants with money to move, which would

⁴⁴ RCW 59.18.440(5) provides "Judicial review of an administrative hearing decision <u>relating to relocation assistance</u> may be had by filing a petition, within ten days of the decision, in the superior court in the county where the residential property is located (emphasis added)."

encourage economic opportunity for all Washington citizens. ⁴⁵ This is clear from the authorizing language at subsection (1) to the discretion the Legislature gave to municipalities to set up such systems. Kinnucan's interpretation that RCW 59.18.440 requires a longer timeline for an administrative appeal fails.

5. Under the rules of statutory construction, the Legislature intended municipal discretion to establish the scope of administrative appeals.

Kinnucan also includes a one-paragraph argument that TRAO improperly includes a "substantive limitation" which restricts hearings requests to those "relating to the authority to pursue unlawful detainer actions during the relocation period."⁴⁶ Under RCW 59.18.440, a landlord cannot evict a tenant to avoid paying tenant relocation assistance monies. Therefore, the City allows administrative appeals related to disputes between landlords and tenants over unlawful detainer until the landlord's tenant relocation license is issued.

The City's system conforms to the Legislature's intent that the City's utilizing RCW 59.18.440 ensure qualifying low-income tenants obtain tenant relocation monies. The appeal provisions provide tenant

⁴⁵ Garneau v. City of Seattle, 147 F.3d 802, 804 (1998).

⁴⁶ Kinnucan's Opening Brief at p. 13.

recourse if a landlord attempts to evict to avoid payment of funds. This follows the Legislature's provision that allows tenants or landlords to appeal a hearing examiner decision to superior court under RCW 59.18.440(5).

Further, if the Legislature intended municipality's to issue binding decisions related to unlawful detainer, Legislature have included more than a passing reference to disputes related to unlawful detainer. Nowhere in RCW 59.18.440 does it modify the unlawful detainer provisions, set forth at RCW 59.12.170.⁴⁷ The superior court decides on the viability of unlawful detainer actions.⁴⁸ If the Legislature intended for municipalities to resolve administratively disputes about an unlawful detainer action including failure of tenant to pay rent or failure of a landlord to maintain habitable temperatures the Legislature would have amended the RLTA accordingly. Yet, it did not. Further, Kinnucan's interpretation is contrary to common sense. If the City made no city determination, the Hearing Examiner does not have jurisdiction.

⁴⁷ An unlawful detainer action is a special proceeding and superior court's jurisdiction in such action is limited to primary issue of right of possession, plus incidental issues such as restitution and rent, or damages. *Mead v. Park Place Properties* (1984) 37 Wn. App. 403, 681 P.2d 256, review denied. *See also* RCW 59.18.050 (superior court jurisdiction), 59.12.030 (definition of unlawful detainer).

⁴⁸ RCW 59.18.050 and 59.17.050.

Kinnucan failed to establish the City has a duty to either extend the timeline for appeals or to expand appeals beyond that in TRAO.

B. Issuance of a writ is inappropriate here where tenants have a speedy, adequate remedy at law, which is to sue if a tenant receives an improper notice of unlawful detainer after TRAO has been met.

The Superior Court properly concluded Kinnucan could sue to challenge her landlord's notice to terminate tenancy. Whether there is a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of the law is a question left to the discretion of the court in which the proceeding is instituted.⁴⁹ Courts "will not disturb a decision regarding a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy on review unless the superior court's discretion was manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons."⁵⁰

A remedy is not inadequate merely because it involves delay, expense, annoyance, or even some hardship.⁵¹ To be found inadequate, there must be something in the nature of the action that clarifies that the

⁴⁹ Eugster v. City of Spokane, 118 Wn. App. 383, 403.

⁵⁰ Id

⁵¹ Eugster v. City of Spokane, 118 Wn. App. 383, 414 (2003) citing State ex rel. O'Brien v. Police Court, 14 Wn.2d 340, 347-348, 128 P2d 332 (1942).

rights of the litigants will not be protected or full redress will not be afforded without the writ.⁵²

The superior court, exercising its discretion, properly concluded that Kinnucan had an adequate remedy at law: to sue. The superior court stated: "I do believe there is an alternative remedy, and that is to file suit, a lawsuit. I mean, I realize it may be inconvenient. It might be expensive especially for low-income folks, but there is still that option for people."⁵³

Kinnucan pursued that remedy. She already had brought a private right of action against the property owner.⁵⁴ The superior courts, like the City, are also sensitive to the needs of low-income individuals and the courts can use their discretion to waive filing fees for those unable to pay.

Kinnucan failed to establish the litigant's rights would not be protected without the writ. She argues that the litigant has a right to an administrative appeal; however, the City offers an administrative appeal at SMC 22.210.150. Kinnucan really seeks an easier way to challenge a termination of tenancy notice of a landlord. However, she solved that

⁵³ Report of Proceedings (RP) 24:14-18.

⁵² *Id*.

⁵⁴ RCW 59.18.240. In fact, Kinnucan filed suit under KCSC 14-2-18073-0 (see paragraph 4.68, 4.92 and V. retaliation under RCW 59.18.240). Another remedy involves a private right of action with appeal at SMC 22.206.305-.310.

problem by filing her own lawsuit against her landlord⁵⁵ and, through settlement, retained tenancy through October 2014.⁵⁶ Kinnucan has failed to establish the court's finding that a lawsuit as an alternative remedy constitutes "untenable grounds" that would warrant reversal.⁵⁷

C. Issuance of a writ is improper because Kinnucan is not "beneficially interested" where there was no injury, landlord did not violation TRAL and she is like any other tenant.

Kinnucan bears only a generalized interest in a longer appeal deadline under TRAO, which cannot establish she is "beneficially interested". The "beneficially interested" element involves the concept of standing.⁵⁸ The standing requirement for a mandamus action requires a party to be "specifically injured" by the action.⁵⁹ A generalized interest will not confer standing to challenge an action.⁶⁰ Kinnucan is also not threatened with unlawful detainer so she can establish no specific injury associated with the current appeal timeline under TRAO.

⁵⁵ Kinnucan v. GRE Lockhaven, Inc. et al., King County Cause No. 14-2-18073-0, cited at CP 99:13-15.

⁵⁶ CP 99:13-15, 100:1-12.

⁵⁷ Eugster v. City of Spokane, 118 Wn. App. 383, 414 (2003) citing State ex rel. O'Brien v. Police Court, 14 Wn.2d 340, 347-348, 128 P.2d 332 (1942).

⁵⁸ Eugster at 403, citing Retired Pub. Employees Council v. Charles, 148 Wn.2d 602, 616, 62 P.3d 470 (2003).

⁵⁹ SAVE v. Bothell, 89 Wn.2d 862, 866, 576 P.2d 401 (1978).

⁶⁰ SAVE quoting Sierra Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727, 734-35 (1972).

Further, Kinnucan's reliance on *Retired Pub. Employees Council v. Charles* is misplaced because it is distinguishable. In *Retired Pub. Emps. Council of Wash. v. Charles*⁶¹ the court found that the plaintiffs who were employees and retirees who had paid into the retirement system of their public employer had a specialized interest in present and future retirement fund payouts so these plaintiffs were beneficially interested in the duty. Unlike the plaintiffs in *Charles* whose retirement benefits may be harmed, Kinnucan cannot establish that she bears any greater risk of injury than any other tenant in being threatened with unlawful detainer action.

Kinnucan provides no evidence she was specifically injured by the inability to obtain a prior administrative hearing. While she argues of an alleged unlawful detainer dispute between GRE and Kinnucan after the License was issued, she provides no proof that an unlawful detainer action was ever filed. The only evidence she might point to is the landlord GRE's June notice to terminate tenancy that GRE withdrew several days after it was issued⁶² Kinnucan never alleged or provided any evidence that either notices to terminate tenancy escalated to an actual unlawful detainer action. It is undisputed that she retained tenancy at the Lockhaven

_

⁶¹ 148 Wn.2d 602, 620, 62 P.3d 470 (2003), cited at Kinnucan's Opening Brief. at pp. 19-

⁶² CP 42, lines 4-15.

Apartments until October 2014.⁶³ Kinnucan has no specialized interest beyond any other tenant.

D. Kinnucan did not brief the dismissal of Writ 2; the dismissal should therefore be upheld.

The second writ Ms. Kinnucan sought, but which was dismissed by the superior court on the City's motion, was to compel the City to grant administrative hearings to tenants who after Sept. 2014 filed appeals related to relocation assistance or unlawful detainer during relocation.⁶⁴ ("Writ 2"). Since Kinnucan alleged no error associated with dismissal of Writ 2. The Superior Court's dismissal should be affirmed.

E. The case is moot and presents no issue that involves a matter of public interest.

The case is moot because the opportunity for an administrative hearing for Ms. Kinnucan has long passed and she has long ago moved into a new residence. The relief Kinnucan sought was a hearing based on violations of the City's Just Cause ordinance and unlawful detainer statute, not TRAO. The City has no duty to provide such a hearing.

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